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EUROPEAN HEALTH AND DIGITAL EXECUTIVE AGENCY (HADEA)  

  

Health and Food 
EU4Health 

Brussels, 16 February 2022 

  

  

Questions and Answers related to the 

Call for operating grants under the Annual Work Programme 2022 

EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA 
 

 
1. Our NGO started at 2007 and registered as a legal entity as of 2019. Does that 
form a restriction? The execution of the work is done by partners, volunteers and 
subcontractors. The NGO does not have employees on the pay role. Does that form a 
restriction? 
 
“Applicants are requested to submit two Annual activity reports when submitting the 
application. Additionally, and according to the EU Financial regulation – to verify your 
operational and financial capacity – for operating grants requesting over 100.000 EUR, you 
must provide the last three available financial reports. 
All the requirements need to be met.  
Costs related to volunteers are not eligible under the operating grants. In case the NGO 
has no staff, then the proposal should explain in detail how the different tasks and by 
whom will be performed and how the grant management, including reporting obligations, 
will be carried out.  
We also would like to draw attention to the articles on eligibility of costs in the Model 
Grant Agreement (please refer to the Operating Grant Model Grant Agreement, which is 
available in the Funding & Tender portal under Call documents). 
In particular, we would like to remark that costs must be identifiable and verifiable, and 
recorded in the beneficiary’s accounting system in order to be acknowledged as eligible 
costs.” 
 
Thank you for your answer. I have an additional question at the nature of the grant. 
The financial information provided at the info day webinar (January, 20) states at slide 
3 (nature of the grant): Grant = partial reimbursement of eligible cost. Just to be 
certain: this means applying for a grant of EURO 100.000 implies a maximum 
reimbursement of EURO 60.000? 
 
“Indeed, an operating grant cannot fund all the operating costs incurred by the beneficiary 
body. Therefore, the beneficiary must have its own source of funding to contribute to the 
annual operating budget of the organisation whose statutory activities serve the strategic 
objectives of EU policies. 
 

https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/docs/2021-2027/common/agr-contr/og-mga_en.pdf
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/opportunities/topic-details/eu4h-2022-og-fpa;callCode=null;freeTextSearchKeyword=;matchWholeText=true;typeCodes=1,0;statusCodes=31094502;programmePeriod=2021%20-%202027;programCcm2Id=43332642;programDivisionCode=null;focusAreaCode=null;destination=null;mission=null;geographicalZonesCode=null;programmeDivisionProspect=null;startDateLte=null;startDateGte=null;crossCuttingPriorityCode=null;cpvCode=null;performanceOfDelivery=null;sortQuery=sortStatus;orderBy=asc;onlyTenders=false;topicListKey=topicSearchTablePageState
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The applicable co-financing rate has been specified in the text of the call for proposals: 
“The costs will be reimbursed at the funding rate fixed in the Grant Agreement (60%). You 
can apply for a higher project funding rate (80%) if your project is of ‘exceptional utility’”.  
 
Please note that for this call the text should be read as follows: 
“Your organisation can apply for a higher project funding rate (80%) if your operational 
activities are of ‘exceptional utility’, i.e. concern: - proposed actions where at least 30 % of 
the budget is allocated to activities in Member States whose GNI per inhabitant is less than 
90% of the EU average.” 
 
That means that from a EUR 1000.000 requested budget, at least EUR 300.000 will be spent 
for activities in at least two Member States whose GNI per inhabitant is less than 90% of 
the EU average. The activities must be included in the work programme of the applicant 
and, in accordance with the call document, they should be related to at least one of the 
specific objectives laid down in Article 4 of Regulation (EU) 2021/522. Furthermore, the 
eligible cost for those activities shall be incurred by the applicant and not by its members. 
The applicant shall provide a self-declaration that they comply with the requirements for 
the higher funding rate. 
 
Please, be aware that estimated costs indicated in the budget of the proposal is a forecast 
of the financial resources needed to ensure participation of the beneficiary in activities 
that are necessary to implement one or more specific objective of the EU4Health 
programme. These costs will be considered as eligible for the reimbursement ONLY if they 
will be actually incurred for the activity(ies) being co-funded and declared in the final 
report. Accordingly, the co-financing rate will be applied only to eligible costs.” 
 
2. Please can you define “statutory members”. I refer to this text in the call 
document “Entities without legal personality — Entities which do not have legal 
personality under their national law may exceptionally participate, provided that their 
representatives have the capacity to undertake legal obligations on their behalf, and 
offer guarantees for the protection of the EU financial interests equivalent to that 
offered by legal persons”. In our specific context, our organization provides the 
secretariat and coordination of a coalition without legal personality based on a 
memorandum of understanding between its members. Is that MOU sufficient to 
document our membership and geographical coverage? What additional burden of 
proof is required in this respect? Are the MOU + statutes + demonstrable track record 
of meeting these criteria (e.g. through past SGAs, submissions to public consultations, 
annual meetings) sufficient? 
Regarding the exceptional utility criteria: please can you explain how the exceptional 
utility criterion “Actions where at least 30% of the budget is allocated to member states 
whose GNI per capita is less than 90% of the EU average” applies in the case of operating 
grants. Since these are single beneficiary grants, and cannot be used to fund our third 
parties, no percentage of the budget can be allocated towards other member states than 
that where we are established. 
Is it possible to have access to the template for the detailed budget? 
 
“For entities which do not have a legal personality, the representatives, are those who are 
entitled to represent the concerned entity without a legal personality, such as the board 
of directors or those who are nominated for that representation purpose within the 
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entity’s statutes. Representatives are not those who are members or affiliates. Please keep 
also in mind that only applications by single applicants are allowed (single beneficiaries). 
 
To prove your entity’s geographical coverage, you may submit those documents you refer 
to, however please note those listed in the call: Annual activity reports, statutes and your 
list of statutory member organisations (by statutes) or partners in your case.  
 
Regarding the criteria to examine that an operating grant can be considered as having 
exceptional utility: In the call for proposal “EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA – Financial 
contribution to the functioning of health non-governmental bodies implementing one or 
more specific objectives of Regulation 2021/522” it is specified that “You can apply for a 
higher project funding rate (80%) if your project is of ‘exceptional utility’, i.e. concerns: - 
actions where at least 30 % of the budget is allocated to Member States whose GNI per 
inhabitant is less than 90% of the EU average” 
Please note that for this call the text should be read as follows: 
“Your organisation can apply for a higher project funding rate (80%) if your operational 
activities are of ‘exceptional utility’, i.e. concern: - proposed actions where at least 30 % of 
the budget is allocated to activities in Member States whose GNI per inhabitant is less than 
90% of the EU average.” 
 
That means that from a EUR 1000.000 requested budget, at least EUR 300.000 will be spent 
for activities in at least two Member States whose GNI per inhabitant is less than 90% of 
the EU average. The activities must be included in the work programme of the applicant 
and, in accordance with the call document, they should be related to at least one of the 
specific objectives laid down in Article 4 of Regulation (EU) 2021/522. Furthermore, the 
eligible cost for those activities shall be incurred by the applicant and not by its members. 
The applicant shall provide a self-declaration that they comply with the requirements for 
the higher funding rate. 
 
For the budget template:  
Please be aware that you need to create both an FPA and an SGA application (you need to 
use the FPA application number in the SGA application). For the FPA application you only 
need to complete part A, and then you can upload the part B template from the SGA 
application.  
We would also like to clarify that the FPA template does not have a budget table (and you 
also do not need to create one). As regards the SGA application you need to complete all 
annexes and, in the form accessible via the portal, indeed you will find the budget table.  
We highly recommend you to watch the recording of the info day and available 
presentations on the link below guiding you on how to present the applications 
EU4Health 2022 work programme Info session for Operating Grants (europa.eu)” 
 
3. Our organization (a federation) is considering submitting a proposal for an 
operating grant in the EU4Health programme. Thank you very much for organising the 
information day yesterday and upon the recommendation to email my questions: 
- My organisation represents over 4000 high level European biomedical experts through 
23 Member Academies including several in Central and Eastern Europe (Czech Republic, 
Romania, Hungary, Lithuania, Croatia but also in Serbia). Capacity building in those often 
smaller, younger and less resourced Academies, expert collaboration and networking in 
this region is high on our European policy agenda and my question was whether there 

https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
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was any interest, through this call, in engaging with EU neighbouring countries and 
accession States, particularly in the Balkans? 
- While this call will provide funding in 2022, will the Framework Partnership Agreement 
give priority to shortlisted applicants to apply for future funding? Will future calls be 
restricted to them or opened to all? 
- Funding is not available for third parties but how do you define third parties? Would a 
staff member responsible for overseeing the activities in the operating grant need to be 
on the organisation’s Belgian payroll or are there alternatives to envisage? Could a staff 
member employed by one of our Academy Members (in Prague during their EU 
presidency or Zagreb, for example) also be included in the operating grant, claim his/her 
time working on this activity and related expenses such as travel and equipment be 
included?  
 
“You are requested to prove that your organisation is pursuing at least one of the specific 
objectives of Regulation (EU) 2021/522. Proposals must relate to activities taking place in 
the eligible countries. Namely, EU Member States (including overseas countries and 
territories (OCTs)), Norway and Iceland (members of EEA countries), and other non-EU 
Member States countries associated to the EU4Health Programme. 
To date, however, there are no “other non-EU Member States countries” associated to the 
EU4Health Programme/no association agreement was signed so far. 
As indicated in the text of the call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA, the Framework Partnership 
Agreement is used for purely technical reasons (IT system set-up). Therefore, its 
submission is strictly linked to the 2022 funding and it will not give any priority to any 
shortlisted applicants to apply for future funding. 
Only applications by single applicants are allowed (single beneficiaries) and therefore third 
parties means outside of your organisation. 
Financial support to third parties is not eligible. Subcontracting costs may be eligible. 
However, we cannot get deeper on your budget and costs to be declared without knowing 
the full information of the proposal, which can be only evaluated after its submission. The 
application must be assessed in its full complexity”. 
 
4. My question is, one of the eligibility conditions states: “Being active at Union 
level and in at least half of the Member States with a balanced geographical coverage 
of the Union.” We are an Association based exclusively in Spain and our field of work 
limits within the country, so we do not intervene with population/institutions from 
another Member State. Is it possible, for a NGO of our kind, to apply for these grants 
without partnering with other NGO’s? 
“Being active at Union level and in at least half of the Member States with a balanced 
geographical coverage of the Union” is one of the eligibility conditions of this call. 
Therefore, applicants need to fulfil this condition in order to be eligible” 
 
5. Following the info day, I would like to clarify the start date: I have understood 
that given the rules currently in force, the contract can start on the day we submit it. If 
we submit it on the 17/02/2022 can it technically start on the 17/02/2022 or will it 
necessarily start on the 01/03/2022? 

 
“The operating grant starting date will be fixed in the Grant Agreement. Normally, the 
starting date will be after the signature of the grant agreement. Retroactive application 
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can be granted exceptionally for duly justified reasons, but never earlier than the proposal 
submission date.” 
 
6. Unfortunately I could not take part in the EU4Health 2022 Work Programme 
Information Session for Operating Grants, although I am very interested in its 
subject...[…] …to join the activities of EU4H programme in the fight against cancer. XXXX 
is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company developing novel small molecule therapies 
addressing high value emerging targets in precision oncology. 
Has the webinar been recorded so I can still watch it? Are there any information material 
from this meeting available ? 

 
“The copies of the presentations and the recording of the webinar are available via this 
link” 
 
7. This is a question about the call DP-g-22-26.01 - operating grants. 
Is it possible to receive co-funding in 2023? This remained unclear to us after the 
information session last week Thursday. On the one hand it is stated that the operating 
grant funding is tied to this year (2022) and only runs until 31 December 2022, starting 
from the day of submission of the proposal. While it was also announced that if the 
organisation's financial year does not follow the calendar year, the funding starts from 
the new financial year and runs for twelve months e.g. 1 April until 30 March 2023. 

 
“The operating grant starting date will be fixed in the Grant Agreement. Normally, the 
starting date will be after the signature of the grant agreement. Retroactive application 
can be granted exceptionally for duly justified reasons, but never earlier than the proposal 
submission date. 
The duration of proposals may not exceed the applicant’s financial year up to 12 months. 
There are two possible scenarios: 
- If the application for an operating grant is submitted before the beginning of the 
budgetary year of the beneficiary, the eligibility period can start at the earliest at the 
beginning of this budgetary year; 
- If the application is submitted after the beginning of the budgetary year of the 
beneficiary, the eligibility period can start not earlier than the date of submission of the 
application; this implies that the eligibility period under the operating grant will not cover 
the entire budgetary year of the beneficiary.” 
 
8. I would like to receive clarification about several points listed among eligibility 
criteria in part 6 of the call text (table on pages 9-11), namely: 
- In criterion of being “non-for-profit” there is a reference to submission of financial 
reports for the last 3 years: Does this imply that organisations registered or active for 
less than 3years can not apply for this operating grant? 
- In criterion of “Being active at Union level and in at least half of the Member States with 
a balanced geographical coverage of the Union.” statutory member organisations are 
mentioned several times. Does this mean that the call is only relevant for associations 
with official membership structure? Are individual NGOs active at the EU level and 
nationally across the EU eligible for this funding? 
 

https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
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“To verify the eligibility criteria of a non-for-profit organization and the independence of 
industry, commercial and business (financial independence) you need as proofing 
documentation the annual financial report of the last three years.  
Additionally, according to the EU Financial Regulation, for operating grants exceeding EUR 
100 000, these financial reports will be also used to assed your financial and operational 
capacity. 
As regards your second question, “Being active at Union level and in at least half of the 
Member States with a balanced geographical coverage of the Union” is also one of the 
eligibility conditions of this call. Therefore, applicants need to fulfil this condition in order 
to be eligible. If you do not have statutory members, you will need to prove how you are 
active in at least half of the Member States for example with the content of the activity 
reports or list of partners, among other proofs.” 
 
9. We are preparing an FPA/SGA application for an Operating Grant. As requested, 
we have prepared two proposals in the portal - one FPA and one SGA. Both proposals 
include different Part B templates to be filled in by the applicant. The FPA Part B proposal 
also includes a section for multi-annual budget estimate. My question is, if the part B for 
the FPA must be filled in, according to the FPA Part B template of if we should use the 
SGA Part B Template as described in the call document: 
"Given that the FPA call is used for purely technical reasons (IT system set-up), under the 
section “Part B” the template for SGA can be uploaded instead – so for both applications 
the same part B will be uploaded, since this is a specific combined FPA/SGA call." If we 
need to fill in the Part B Template of the FPA, for how many years would we need to 
focus on? Four years? 
 
“We confirm that you do not need to download and complete the part B template of the 
FPA. Instead, In the FPA application you must upload the part B filled for the SGA 
application, indicating the number of the SGA application. 
Given that the FPA call is used for purely technical reasons (IT system set-up) and that the 
FPA and SGA calls are combined, the option of a multi-annual budget estimate does not 
apply. In completing the SGA application, you will be requested to fill the budget table 
linked to the activities proposed for the max 12-month funding covered by the call EU4H-
2022-OG-FPA/SGA.  
For further guidance on how to present your application, we would highly recommend to 
refer to the On-line Manual and to watch the recording of the info day and the available 
presentations at the following link: 
EU4Health 2022 work programme Info session for Operating Grants (europa.eu)” 
 
10. I am seeking to understand whether our organisation is eligible to apply for the 
following grant: Financial contribution to the functioning of health non-governmental 
bodies implementing one or more specific objectives of Regulation 2021/522 (EU4H-
2022-OG-FPA). Our organisation are registered in Switzerland – does this preclude us 
from applying? 
 
“In reply to your query, we confirm that proposals must be submitted by legal entities 
established in countries eligible for the EU4Health Programme. 
Currently, only the EU Member States, Iceland and Norway are eligible for funding.” 
 

https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.inhsu.org/__;!!DOxrgLBm!RPqkdbyUMsxJq-8HQtvcxJKMCaDuMbV6UTKXz_UrDYkUQXRXEnR85fmuCWLi7__rJ8PjjhtB$
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11. Could you help me understand how to calculate the percentage of our activities 
that should remain outside the operating grant? The call text seems to be contradictory 
as to what we can include: 
On the one hand, it specifies that it is for financial contribution for NGOs contributing to 
one of the specific objectives of the EU4Health programme (regulation 2021/522), of 
which the last listed specific objective is (j) supporting global commitments and health 
initiatives by reinforcing the Union’s support for actions by international organisations, 
in particular actions by the WHO, and fostering cooperation with third countries. 
On the other hand, the eligibility criteria state that 'Proposals must relate to activities 
taking place in the eligible countries', which exclude third countries. 
Our members include countries from the European region (following the WHO European 
region with 53 countries, including all EU Member States). We would like to include 
several activities that relate to implementation of specific objective (j). 
 
“In reply to your query, we confirm that proposals must relate to activities taking place in 
countries eligible for the EU4Health Programme.  
Namely, EU Member States (including overseas countries and territories (OCTs)), the EEA 
countries Norway and Iceland, non-EU countries associated to the EU4Health Programme. 
To date, however, there are no countries associated to the EU4Health Programme/no 
association agreement was signed so far.” 
 
12. We had an inquiry from a regional NGO, who is active in the field of rescue and 
emergency services. Among other activities they offer rescue service training. They asked 
if there are EU funds to financially help their organization. We came across the EU4 
Health Programme, specifically EU4H Specific Operating Grant and Framework 
Partnership Operating Grant The conditions and admissibility for these programs seem 
quite complex and we are not sure, if the NGO is eligible to apply for these funds. 
We wanted to ask if you could forward us a contact person who is an expert in health 
funds so we can discuss, if the NGO is eligible for the fund? 
 
“Concerning your question about the Operating Grants, you can watch the recording of 
the Info Session on Operating Grant organised by HaDEA on 20 Jan 2022, in collaboration 
with the European Commissions’ Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety (SANTE) 
and with the support of the EU Health Policy Platform. Agenda and presentations from the 
event are also available on the webpage. 
Should you have any specific question related to the call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA, please 
do not hesitate to contact HaDEA-HP-CALLS@ec.europa.eu. 
For further information about the EU4Health programme, you can consult the Regulation 
establishing the EU4Health Programme and the EU4Health Work Programme 2022.” 
 
13. With reference to the call for operating grants : 
I have searched but was unable to find any lists of prior recipients of these grants for the 
last three years. I am interested in order to better assess the likelihood of a specialized 
organization like ours (focusing on physical activity) to receive an operating grant. Thus, 
I additionally would like to know if there is information on the number of received 
applications and the total amounts applied for versus the available budget (if available) 
for the last three years. May I kindly ask you to provide (links to) this information, 
please? 

https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
mailto:HaDEA-HP-CALLS@ec.europa.eu
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32021R0522&from=EN
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32021R0522&from=EN
https://ec.europa.eu/health/latest-updates/2022-eu4health-work-programme-adopted-invest-over-eu835-million-health-2022-01-14_en
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“Please be informed that you may find information on past operating grants under the 
previous EU Health Programmes on the following link: 
“Health Programme DataBase - European Commission (europa.eu)” 
 
14. I would be grateful if you could clarify something about the EU4Health  
Programme, please I am emailing from an NGO that supports people with a rare disease, 
Prader-Willi Syndrome, throughout the EU. I am based in Ireland, but our Head Office is 
in the UK. I understood from the webinar that applicants must be from an EU state, 
Norway or Iceland, or an eligible non-EU country, specifically a country associated to the 
EU4Health Programme or a country which has submitted an official request for 
association and is in ongoing negotiations for an association agreement and where the 
agreement enters into force before grant signature.  
Based on this am I correct in thinking that an NGO based in the UK is not eligible to apply 
to this scheme? 
 
“Proposals must relate to activities taking place in the eligible countries. Currently, only 
the EU Member States, Iceland and Norway are eligible for funding. There are no 
associated countries to the EU4Health Programme/no association agreement was signed 
so far.” 
 
15. Our Association would like to apply for the operational grant 2022. We are not 
sure, which file to choose. May I ask you to let us know? Operational grant or FPA? Or 
both?  
 
“You need to create both an FPA and an SGA application (and you need to use the FPA 
application number in the SGA application).  
We highly recommend you to watch the recording of the info day and available 
presentations on the link below guiding you on how to present the applications. 
EU4Health 2022 work programme Info session for Operating Grants (europa.eu)” 
 
16. Are activities and their associated costs that take place in 2023 eligible? 

 
“Replying to your query, we confirm that an operating grant is linked to the beneficiary’s 
financial year and cannot exceed 12 months. 
There are two possible scenarios: 
- In case the beneficiary’s financial year does not follow a calendar year, the application for 
an operating grant may be submitted before the beginning of the financial year of the 
beneficiary. The eligibility period will start at the earliest at the beginning of this financial 
year and will cover up to 12 months; 
- If the application is submitted after the beginning of the financial year of the beneficiary, 
the eligibility period will start not earlier than the date of submission of the application; 
this implies that the eligibility period under the operating grant will not cover the entire 
financial year of the beneficiary.” 
 
17. After starting a submission process, I downloaded the template files and found 
that only the Part B word template is available. The template budget spreadsheet is not 
available. Please can you help?  

 

https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/chafea_pdb/health/search?context=HOME&texttosearch=operating+grant
https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/chafea_pdb/health/search?context=HOME&texttosearch=operating+grant
https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
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“Please be aware that you need to create both an FPA and an SGA application (you need 
to use the FPA application number in the SGA application). For the FPA application you 
only need to complete part A, and then you can upload the part B template from the SGA 
application. We would also like to clarify that the FPA template does not have a budget 
table (and you also do not need to create one). As regards the SGA application you need 
to complete all Annexes and there indeed you will find the budget table.” 
 
18. We are at the point of establishing a completely new foundation with a new 
board and new statutes in Amsterdam in the coming weeks (with less than 30% industry 
funding) and our aims fully align with the grant. Will we be eligible for the operating 
grant or are we required to have any (financial) history? (The former organisation was 
UK based and had more than 50% industry funding and will be terminated as of this 
month.) 
 
“The applicant must fulfil all the eligibility criteria as indicated in the call, section 6. In detail 
and regarding your second question, you need to prove, among others requirements: 

 Pursue at least one of the specific objectives of Regulation (EU) 2021/522, 

 Being active at Union level and in at least half of the Member States with a balanced 
geographical coverage of the Union. 

Therefore, you are required to provide two annual activity reports.  
Additionally, the eligibility criteria state that you will need to demonstrate Independence 
of industry, commercial and business (financial independence) with the annual financial 
reports of the last three years.” 
 
19. So, if I understand correctly, no possibility to apply for the grant as a new entity? 
So does that also mean that if we start our foundation now, we cannot apply in the 
coming three years as we cannot deliver three annual reports? 
 
In reply to your last query, we do confirm that the conditions and the requirements 
indicated in the call must be met. However, you may wish to consider that: 
Low value grants must also send documents for the assessment of financial capacity 
(annual accounts), but, indeed, they are not requested to send audit certificates. The 
submission of 2 years of annual accounts / financial statements would be OK. 
 
20. I work for a network of independent NGOs based in the French overseas regions 
and territories, and providing services & assistance to women faced with severe 
pathologies. The network is not formalised yet. The NGOs are all legally seated in France 
only, although they are from different parts of the world and are active between them, 
therefore beyond their respective territories.  
After reading the provisions, my question is as follows: Regarding the 6 criteria, page 9-
11 of the call document, are they all cumulative ? Do we need to comply with exactly all 
of them ? 
Our network isn’t extending yet to other EU Member States and the call doesn’t allow 
for a consortium : can one such NGO as ours still be eligible, considering the scope of our 
actions as part of an ORs - OCTs transborder network ? 
 
“The applicant must fulfil all the eligibility criteria as indicated in the call, section 6. In detail 
and regarding your second question, you need to prove, among others requirements:  

 Pursue at least one of the specific objectives of Regulation (EU) 2021/522,  
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 Being active at Union level and in at least half of the Member States with a balanced 
geographical coverage of the Union.  

Therefore, you are required to provide two annual activity reports. Additionally, the 
eligibility criteria state that 'Proposals must relate to activities taking place in the eligible 
countries', which exclude third countries.” 
 
21. On behalf of our organisation, we would like to respectfully submit 3 clarification 
questions in relation to the open call for grants to contribute to the functioning of health 
non-governmental bodies: 
1) The current call for proposals states that beneficiaries could apply for a higher project 
funding rate of 80% if their project is of ‘exceptional utility’, which concerns “actions 
where at least 30% of the budget is allocated to Member States whose GNI per 
inhabitant is less than 90% of the EU average” (p. 18 of the call for proposals). Given that 
operating grants apply to single beneficiaries/entities, how will this requirement be 
interpreted (e.g., as a requirement to allocate at least 30% of the budget to actions on 
qualified MS according to their GNI, or to show that the membership of the beneficiary 
includes organizations in qualified MS, in a similar way as in the third health programme, 
or other? 
NB. The criteria for the exceptional utility of operating grants used in the third health 
programme specified that: “1. At least 25 % of the members of the non-governmental 
bodies or candidate members of the non-governmental bodies must come from Member 
States whose GNI per inhabitant is less than 90 % of the EU average. This criterion is 
intended to promote the participation of non-governmental bodies from Member States 
with a low GNI”. 
 
2) As acknowledged by the 2022 Work Programme (p. 47), “the Commission considers it 
important that there is continuity in the work carried out by the health NGOs in 
addressing current health challenges including the COVID-19 pandemic and its 
consequences, and it intends to award operating grants under this work programme to 
eligible NGOs”. As NGOs have continued to carry out their activities during the current 
crisis, the possibility of retroactively claiming some of these costs would be very 
important to ensure the continuity of such actions. The call for proposals specifies that 
“retroactive application can be granted exceptionally for duly justified reasons -but 
never earlier than the proposal submission date” (p. 17). What type of justification and 
supportive documents will be required from applicants for the retroactive application of 
the starting date at the proposal stage? 
 
3) Is there a maximum share for direct costs and subcontracting that will apply to the 
grant proposal application? Are there any guiding principles or specific requirements for 
subcontractor and subcontracting, and if yes, where can we find these? 
 
“1) Regarding the criteria to examine that an operating grant can be considered as having 
exceptional utility: In the call for proposal “EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA - Financial 
contribution to the functioning of health non-governmental bodies implementing one or 
more specific objectives of Regulation 2021/522” it is specified that: “You can apply for a 
higher project funding rate (80%) if your project is of ‘exceptional utility’, i.e. concerns: - 
actions where at least 30 % of the budget is allocated to Member States whose GNI per 
inhabitant is less than 90% of the EU average”. 
Please note that for the call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA, the text should be read as follows: 
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“Your organisation can apply for a higher project funding rate (80%) if your operational 
activities are of ‘exceptional utility’, i.e. concern: - proposed actions where at least 30 % of 
the budget is allocated to activities in Member States whose GNI per inhabitant is less than 
90% of the EU average.” 
 
That means that from a EUR 1000.000 requested budget, at least EUR 300.000 will be spent 
for activities in at least two Member States whose GNI per inhabitant is less than 90% of 
the EU average. The activities must be included in the work programme of the applicant 
and, in accordance with the call document, they should be related to at least one of the 
specific objectives laid down in Article 4 of Regulation (EU) 2021/522. Furthermore, the 
eligible cost for those activities shall be incurred by the applicant and not by its members. 
The applicant shall provide a self-declaration that they comply with the requirements for 
the higher funding rate. 
 
2) Indeed, the retroactivity rule to apply is the one specified in the call, which reads [….] 
retroactive application can be granted exceptionally for duly justified reasons -but never 
earlier than the proposal submission date […].  
The justification for applying a retroactive start of the action must be elaborated by the 
beneficiary at the stage of the Grant Agreement Preparation, if the proposal is awarded 
for funding.  Therefore, at the level of the proposal submission, there is no documentation 
to submit for requesting a retroactive start of the action. 
 
3) The call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA does not set a threshold for direct costs and 
subcontracting that will apply to the grant proposal application. Subcontracting costs 
might be introduced under Title III of the detailed budget. As general guiding principles, 
please be reminded that subcontracting procedures should follow transparency, best value 
for money and no conflict of interest. Also, technical and financial coordination should not 
be subcontracted. We recommend you to consult the model grant agreement articles on 
eligibility of costs and subcontracting (please refer to the Operating Grant Model Grant 
Agreement, which is available in the Funding & Tender portal under Call documents).” 
 
22. Our Association would like to submit a project under EU4Health open call and 
include Association’s members from Serbia, North Macedonia and Turkey, apart from 
other members based in Europe. May we have your official answer if the above three 
countries are indeed eligible to participate in the project. 
 
“In reply to your query, we confirm that proposals must be submitted by legal entities 
established in countries eligible for the EU4Health Programme.  
Namely, EU Member States (including overseas countries and territories (OCTs)), the EEA 
countries Norway and Iceland, non- EU countries associated to the EU4Health Programme. 
Likewise, proposals must relate to activities taking place in the eligible countries above 
mentioned. To date, Serbia, North Macedonia and Turkey are not meeting the eligibility 
requirements requested by the call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA.” 
 
Thank you for your answer. 
Our question was more referred to the upcoming action grants. 
In the old ones (wave 2), for example, this one Funding & tenders (europa.eu) 
the text of the call, under the eligibility criteria, stated: 
- eligible non-EU countries:  

https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/opportunities/topic-details/eu4h-2021-pj-10;callCode=EU4H-2021-PJ2;freeTextSearchKeyword=;matchWholeText=true;typeCodes=1;statusCodes=31094501,31094503;programmePeriod=null;programCcm2Id=null;programDivisionCode=null;focusAreaCode=null;destination=null;mission=null;geographicalZonesCode=null;programmeDivisionProspect=null;startDateLte=null;startDateGte=null;crossCuttingPriorityCode=null;cpvCode=null;performanceOfDelivery=null;sortQuery=sortStatus;orderBy=asc;onlyTenders=false;topicListKey=callTopicSearchTableState
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EEA countries and countries associated to the EU4Health Programme (third countries, 
candidate countries and potential candidate countries, neighbourhood countries) or 
countries which are in ongoing negotiations for an association agreement and where 
the agreement enters into force before grant signature. 
Serbia, N. Macedonia, and Turkey are candidate countries, so we are wondering if they 
can participate as partners in a possible future submission if the conditions stay the 
same. 
 
“We are not in the position to anticipate the possibilities of future participation of Serbia, 
North Macedonia and Turkey, or other third countries, candidate countries and potential 
candidate countries, and neighborhood countries for future calls under the EU4Health 
Programme. It will depend on ongoing negotiations for an association agreement and 
whether the association agreement enters into force before the signature of the grant 
agreement of those calls to be launched under the EU4Health Programme. We can confirm 
that currently only the EU Member States, Iceland and Norway are eligible for funding.” 
 
23. We are interested in submitting a proposal for an operating grant under the call 
"EU4H-2022-OG-FPA -Financial contribution to the functioning of health non-
governmental bodies implementing one or more specific objectives of Regulation 
2021/522". We have some specific questions:  
 
1) PART B sections. In the call document, it says the following:  
"Given that the FPA call is used for purely technical reasons (IT system set-up), under the 
section “Part B” the template for SGA can be uploaded instead – so for both applications 
the same part B will be uploaded, since this is a specific combined FPA/SGA call". 
We have found the PART B document, but not the SPA.  We also don't understand what 
is meant by this statement (above in bold).  Should we replace the PART B template with 
the SGA template? On the funding and tenders portal, we could not even find the SGA 
template.  Perhaps we should just use the PART B form on the online submission system? 
I attached the form that we intend to use for your reference. We would appreciate some 
feedback on this. 
 
2) Detailed budget table 
It is stated in the call document that the table is in PART B and PART A.  We didn't find it 
in PART A.  Was that a typo? Here is the table of contents for the PART A doc. for your 
reference. No budget table was available in that document: 
 

 
 

3) Geographic coverage 
Could you please clarify what is meant by "active at the Union level"?  Does that mean 
that the NGO applying needs to be active throughout the EU, i.e. in at least 50% of the 
EU member states?  
The NGO in question operates in Belgium, Croatia and BiH.  Could the grant be applicable 
to only operations in one of these countries? 
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4) Documents proving eligibility - in the call document  
I would like clarification about section 6 in the call document for this call for proposals. 
Under section 6. Eligibility (P.10-11), it is described that statutes, financial reports dating 
the last three years, declaration of honour, etc. need to be provided to prove eligibility.   
Is that provided at the project submission stage via the system (under the section "other 
annexes")?  
 
5) FPA and SGA  
I am confused by the call setup. It states in the call document "You will need to submit 
parallel FPA and SGA applications, however, in the case of the FPA application please 
only fill in all the information asked on the screens (part A), and upload the same part B 
as for the SGA application. Please complete first the FPA application, and then use the 
FPA application number for the SGA application. Both the FPA and the SGA agreements 
will have a duration up to 12 months." 
Is there another call connected to this one that we also need to complete?  Shouldn't we 
just complete the files available and requested on the sumission system?? We have not 
found anything relating to the SGA.  Please clarify. 
 
“1), 5) Please be aware that you need to create both an FPA and an SGA application, as per 
the distinguished calls in the Funding & Tender Portal: 
 

 
 
For the FPA application you only need to complete part A. Then, you must upload the part 
B filled for the SGA application, indicating the number of the SGA application.  
 
2) The ADMINISTRATIVE FORMS (PART A of the Application Form), must be filled out 
directly in the Portal Submission System. Please also refer to the Submission process 
section in the On-line Manual. 
We would also like to clarify that the FPA template does not have a budget table (and you 
also do not need to create one). The budget table is annexed only to the SGA application 
form. 
In completing the SGA application, you will be requested to fill the budget table linked to 
the activities proposed for the max 12-month funding covered by the call EU4H-2022-OG-
FPA/SGA. 
For further guidance on how to present your application, we would highly recommend to 
use the On-line Manual and to watch the recording of the info day and the available 
presentations at the following link: 
EU4Health 2022 work programme Info session for Operating Grants (europa.eu) 
 
3) ‘Being active at Union level and in at least half of the Member States with a balanced 
geographical coverage of the Union’ means that the applicant organisation must 
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demonstrate that they are implementing EU-based activities as well as having their 
members (statutory member organisations) representing at least half of the EU Member 
States, geographically balanced. 
We would like to further clarify that the proposals must be submitted by legal entities 
established in countries eligible for the EU4Health Programme, namely, EU Member States 
(including overseas countries and territories (OCTs)), the EEA countries Norway and 
Iceland (members of EEA countries) and non-EU countries associated to the EU4Health 
Programme. To date, however, there are no non-EU countries associated to the EU4Health 
Programme/no association agreement was signed so far. Therefore, Bosnia and 
Herzegovina cannot be included in the list of eligible participants/countries of your 
proposal. 
 
4) Documents proving eligibility – as per the call document  –  must be submitted at the 
proposal submission stage via the system under the section “other annexes”. You can 
merge them all in a unique pdf, ideally with a basic legend indicating the order.” 
 
24. I have a query in relation to the eligibility criteria for the operating grant. I am 
working with the XXX to see if they are eligible to apply. One of the criteria requires the 
organisation to be active in at least half of the member states through its statutory 
member organisations. Their members span more than half of the member states and 
include professionals in academic institutions, medical doctors, patient representatives, 
institutes of public health. The majority of XXX members are individuals rather than 
organisations. Unlike some NGOs, there is a very varied membership base but they work 
very closely with them to represent their views. 
 
“With regard to your query, the information that you kindly made available about XXX are 
unfortunately not sufficient to confirm whether that organisation would be or not eligible 
for the call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA. We would rather advise to watch the recording of 
the Info Session on Operating Grant organised by HaDEA on 20 Jan 2022 and to refer to 
the presentations available on the same webpage. You may also find useful to go through 
both the Regulation establishing the EU4Health Programme and the EU4Health Work 
Programme 2022.” 
 
25. My question is as follows: Is it possible for an NGO register in BE with office in 
Brussels but with its headquarter in Switzerland to apply to receive operating grants 
from the EU4Health programme and particularly for under this call? 
 
“Switzerland is not an associated country to the EU4Health programme and is not an 
“eligible country” under the terms of Regulation 2021/522. Therefore, the EU4Health 
Programme is not open to the participation of Switzerland (i.e. entities registered in 
Switzerland). In case your secondary office (e.g. branch, subsidiary or entity with legal 
capacity) in Brussels is fully registered in Belgium, i.e. this office may sign legal 
commitments on its own behalf, that entity is in principle, eligible for participation in the 
call but the expenditure must be incurred by the Belgian-registered entity only. Moreover, 
the proposed activities must take place in the eligible countries as mentioned by the call 
text. They cannot take place in Switzerland. For further questions on eligibility potential 
applicants are invited to address a request with all necessary details to HaDEA-HP-
CALLS@ec.europa.eu.” 
 

https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32021R0522&from=EN
https://ec.europa.eu/health/latest-updates/2022-eu4health-work-programme-adopted-invest-over-eu835-million-health-2022-01-14_en
https://ec.europa.eu/health/latest-updates/2022-eu4health-work-programme-adopted-invest-over-eu835-million-health-2022-01-14_en
mailto:HaDEA-HP-CALLS@ec.europa.eu
mailto:HaDEA-HP-CALLS@ec.europa.eu
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26. With reference to the open call for health operating grants, I took note in the 
recording of the infoday that one organization may not claim the 7% indirect costs if it 
also receives an operating grant (1:37:40 in the recording). However, in the call 
document, it states as follows: 
Receiving an operating grant may however make you ineligible for receiving indirect 
costs in your EU action grants. If you intend to also apply for action grants, please make 
sure that you either have the accounting tools in place to combine them (or that the 
operating grants pays off — meaning that it covers enough of your general running costs 
and overheads to compensate the loss of the indirect costs in the action grants). 
Can you confirm that if we have the accounting tools to separate the operating grant 
costs from the indirect costs (7%) in the action grants, we would be allowed to receive 
funding for both? 
 
“In reply to your query on the indirect costs, we confirm the following: 
Combining EU action and operating grants might be possible ONLY under the following 
conditions (please refer to the AGA — Annotated Grant Agreement, art 6.2.E): 
Beneficiaries that have parallel EU action and operating grants may claim indirect costs in 
their action grants ONLY if they are able to demonstrate cost separation (i.e. that their 
operating grants do not cover any costs which are covered by their action grants). To 
demonstrate cost separation, the following conditions must be fulfilled: 

 The operating grant may NOT cover 100% of the beneficiary’s annual budget (i.e. it may 
not be a full operating grant);  

 The beneficiary MUST use analytical accounting, which allows for a cost accounting 
management with cost allocation keys and cost accounting codes AND must apply 
these keys and codes to identify and separate the costs (i.e. allocate them to either 
the action grant activities or the operating grant activities). Please specifically refer to 
Title II costs of the detailed budget template of the SGA application form for the call 
EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA; 

 The beneficiary MUST record: 
o All real costs incurred for the activities that are covered by their operating 

grants (i.e. personnel, general running costs and other operating costs linked to 
the work programme of activities) and  

o All real costs incurred for the activities that are covered by the action grant 
(including the real indirect costs linked to the action) 

 The allocation of the costs must be done in a way that leads to a fair, objective and 
realistic result. 
Beneficiaries that cannot fulfil these conditions must either: 

 Keep the operating grant, but sign the action grant without indirect costs or request 
no indirect costs at reporting stage (i.e. lower the pre-filled amount in the indirect cost 
column of the financial statement),or 

 Renounce the operating grant, in order to be able to claim indirect costs in the action 
grant.” 
 

27. I am writing on behalf of a Coalition regarding an application for operating grants 
(EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA).  
In the call, under Financial and operational capacity and exclusion, it says: 
In addition for a beneficiary requesting an EU-contribution of ≥ EUR 100 000 an audit 
report produced by an approved external auditor, where it is available, and always in 

https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/opportunities/topic-details/eu4h-2022-og-fpa
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.youtube.com/watch?v=MV4rWIPZiSs__;!!DOxrgLBm!TpTtgclN_CvtbelIlxHKrqb76cAL-7kx0-8-9uSoWwcHwp1f6uhqh_D8PzADnlNM45-7vS_7$
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/docs/2021-2027/common/guidance/aga_en.pdf
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cases where a statutory audit is required by Union or national law, certifying the 
accounts for up to the last three available financial years. 
Due to the nature of previous grants, and the fact that under Dutch law (where the 
Coalition is registered) the coalition does not qualify for needing an audit, the Coalition 
currently does not have an audit report that could be uploaded.  
The Coalition previously received an operating grant through the 3rd Health Programme, 
following which audits were done after each financial year, however this grant was 
managed by a host organisation based in UK. Following Brexit and the end of the 
previous operation grant this relationship was dissolved so the Coalition is now 
applying for the operational grant independently, and the previous audits technically 
apply to a different organisation.  
Given this situation, are we still expected to upload an audit report and/or are there any 
alternatives to proving financial capacity that don't require an audit report. Would a self-
declaration suffice in this instance? 
 
“In reply to your query, while understanding the situation that you described, we would 
like to confirm that your Coalition must be still able to provide justification and supportive 
documentation (annual accounts) that they meet the financial capacity criteria as they are 
detailed and requested in the call document. At the application submission stage, the 
applicant should also explain in detail why audit certificates are not available.” 
 
28. I work on the Operating Grant application 2022. Thank you for the very 
informative session last week. After having checked the FAQ and the platform for 
submission, I have a question as regards the eligibility criteria proof listed in the call 
document. pp9-11. Are these"proof documents" listed a part of the uploads for the FPA 
and SGA 2022 on the platform or should we rather have them in our records in case they 
are asked in the process later on without uploading them? If they are to be uploaded, 
should it be under the section "other annexes"? 
 
“The document proving eligibility, which are requested in the call document must be 
submitted at the proposal submission stage via the system. They can be merged in a unique 
pdf to be uploaded under the section “other annexes”, ideally with the enclosure of a basic 
legend indicating the order.” 

 
29. I have a short question regarding open call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA and EU4H-2022-
OG-SGA. As the submission deadline is approaching fast (17 Feb) I hope to receive a reply 
very fast. Are activities and their associated costs that take place in 2023 eligible? 
 
“Replying to your query, we confirm that an operating grant is linked to the beneficiary’s 
financial year and cannot exceed 12 months. 
There are two possible scenarios:  
- In case the beneficiary’s financial year does not follow a calendar year, the application for 
an operating grant may be submitted before the beginning of the financial year of the 
beneficiary. The eligibility period will start at the earliest at the beginning of this financial 
year and will cover up to 12 months; 
- If the application is submitted after the beginning of the financial year of the beneficiary, 
the eligibility period will start not earlier than the date of submission of the application; 
this implies that the eligibility period under the operating grant will not cover the entire 
financial year of the beneficiary.” 

https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/docs/2021-2027/eu4h/wp-call/2022/call-fiche_eu4h-2022-og-fpa_eu4h-2022-og-sga_en.pdf
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30. We had an inquiry from a regional NGO, who is active in the field of rescue and 
emergency services. Among other activities they offer rescue service training. They asked 
if there are EU funds to financially help their organization. We came across the EU4 
Health Programme, specifically EU4H Specific Operating Grant and Framework 
Partnership Operating Grant  
The conditions and admissibility for these programs seem quite complex and we are not 
sure, if the NGO is eligible to apply for these funds. We wanted to ask if you could 
forward us a contact person who is an expert in health funds so we can discuss, if the 
NGO is eligible for the fund? 
 
“Thank you very much for your interest in the EU4Health Programme and, specifically, for 
the call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA. Further information can be found at the following links: 

- EU4HP 
- EU4Health Work Programme 2022 

With regard to the Operating Grants, you may find useful to watch the recording of the 
Info Session on Operating Grant organised by the European Health and Digital Executive 
Agency (HaDEA) on 20 Jan 2022, in collaboration with DG SANTE and with the support of 
the EU Health Policy Platform. Agenda and presentations from the event are also 
accessible from the Info Session webpage.” 
 
31. We would like to ask for a couple of quick clarifications, please: 
Is the grant period indeed 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022? I.e. the objectives, tasks and deliverables 
described across sections 1.2 and 4.2 should be those running within this period? In the 
call document it is noted “in 2022” and “12 months” – however, since proposal 
submission and evaluation do fall into this period and some activities thus being funded 
“retrospectively” I did want to make sure. 
We are clear that activities that directly support the objectives in regulation 2021/522 
sit at the heart of this call and proposals. However, given the nature of the call, to what 
extent can organizations also ask for funding for the structure behind the team carrying 
out the activities? E.g. staff working on finance, HR, organizational development, 
equipment (pcs)? 
When attaching/describing the CV’s of relevant staff – do these need to be in a specific 
format (e.g. Europass) or can they be of any format? 
Would you have any guidance on how to detail the part of other co-financing in the grant 
application? 
 
“In replies to your queries, 
1. The grant period of an operating grant is linked to the beneficiary’s financial year and 

cannot exceed 12 months. Based on that, for the call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA there 
are two possible scenarios:  

i. The beneficiary’s financial year does not follow a calendar year: the application 
for an operating grant may be submitted (specifically for the call EU4H-2022-
OG-FPA/SGA: 17  Feb 2022 at latest) before the beginning of the financial year 
of the beneficiary.  
It this is the case, the eligibility period (grant duration) will start at the earliest 
at the beginning of this financial year and will cover up to 12 months; 

https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/portal/screen/opportunities/topic-search;callCode=null;freeTextSearchKeyword=;matchWholeText=true;typeCodes=1,0;statusCodes=31094502;programmePeriod=2021%20-%202027;programCcm2Id=43332642;programDivisionCode=null;focusAreaCode=null;destination=null;mission=null;geographicalZonesCode=null;programmeDivisionProspect=null;startDateLte=null;startDateGte=null;crossCuttingPriorityCode=null;cpvCode=null;performanceOfDelivery=null;sortQuery=sortStatus;orderBy=asc;onlyTenders=false;topicListKey=topicSearchTablePageState
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32021R0522&from=EN
https://ec.europa.eu/health/latest-updates/2022-eu4health-work-programme-adopted-invest-over-eu835-million-health-2022-01-14_en
https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/news/eu4health-2022-work-programme-info-session-operating-grants-2022-01-19_en
https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/index_it
https://hadea.ec.europa.eu/index_it
https://ec.europa.eu/info/departments/health-and-food-safety_en
https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/hpf/
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ii. The beneficiary’s financial year does follow a calendar year (1 Jan – 31 Dec 
2022): any application can be submitted at any time between 27 Jan 2022 and 
17 Feb 2022.  
Hence, the eligibility period (grant duration) cannot cover the entire 12-month 
beneficiary’s financial year.  
As indicated in the call document (please refer to 10. Legal and financial set-up 
of the Grant Agreements, Starting date and project duration), […] The project 
starting date and duration will be fixed in the Grant Agreement […]. Normally 
the starting date will be after grant signature. Retroactive application can be 
granted exceptionally for duly justified reasons — but never earlier than the 
proposal submission date. […] 

In light of the above, the  objectives, tasks, milestones, deliverables and budget 
estimation described in the proposal shall be in line with the grant duration (eligibility 
period); 

2. The budget categories other than personnel costs eligible for the call EU4H-2022-OG-
FPA/SGA are identified in the detailed budget table annexed to the SGA application 
form.  
The costs of “funding for the structure” are also eligible – please consult the template 
above mentioned – where the applicant may separate personnel cost whether it 
assigned to general administration (admin and finance, accounting, HR, IT, 
documentation, etc.) or to specific programme activities. Also, Title II of the estimated 
budget template is dedicated general running costs (building, office rental, telecom 
costs, etc.).  
For more details on cost eligibility/ ineligibility we would recommend to refer to the 
Terms and Conditions of the Operating Grants MGA, also accessible via the Funding & 
Tender Portal, Conditions and documents of the call; 

3. CVs can be made available following a free format. Nonetheless, you may wish to 
consider the following indications: 

 A short resume of the core project team is sufficient. If needed, more detailed 
CVs may be requested at a later stage; 

 CVs can be merged and uploaded in an unique pdf; 
4. The applicant must to include the other sources of funding, i.e. membership 

contributions or other third party contributions – please consult the concerning part 
of the detailed budget template.” 

 
31. I am writing on behalf of the Portuguese EU4Health National Focal Point, and we 
would be very grateful if you could please clarify the question below.  
Regarding the call “Financial contribution to the functioning of health non-governmental 
bodies implementing one or more specific objectives of Regulation 2021/522 (EU4H-
2022-OG-FPA/SGA)”, only NGOs that work/are active at the European level are eligible, 
right? NGOs that only work at a national or local level, even if aligned with the EU4Health 
objectives, could not apply for this kind of financial mechanism, correct? 
 
“In reply to your query, we would like to confirm that “Being active at Union level and in 
at least half of the Member States with a balanced geographical coverage of the Union” is, 
indeed, one of the eligibility conditions of the call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA.  
For more details on this and other eligibility requirements, please superficially refer to the 
section 6. Eligibility of the call document.” 
 

https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/docs/2021-2027/common/agr-contr/og-mga_en.pdf
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/opportunities/docs/2021-2027/eu4h/wp-call/2022/call-fiche_eu4h-2022-og-fpa_eu4h-2022-og-sga_en.pdf
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32. It has come to our attention that two (2) different Part B templates are available 
on the Commission’s platform: one (1) for FPA (multi-annual programme) and one (1) for 
SGA (annual programme). 
Do we still need to only use the SGA Part B template and upload it to both the FPA and 
SGA sections of the platform, as indicated in the Call for Proposals and stressed during 
the information session?  
How would your esteemed Agency be informed about our strategy and plan of activities 
for the period 2022-2025? Is this an one-off call for proposals? This is important to verify 
that all necessary information will be submitted. 
 
“In reply to your queries, 

1. We do confirm that you do NOT have to download and complete the part B 
template of the FPA. In the FPA application you must upload the part B filled for 
the SGA application; 

2. The call EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA is a one-off call for proposals. Given that the FPA 
call is used for purely technical reasons (IT system set-up) and that the FPA and SGA 
calls are combined, there is no requirement to include in the FPA a multi-annual 
action plan. Likewise, the option of a multi-annual budget estimation and view does 
not apply. Nonetheless, in elaborating the narrative part of your proposal, you may 
find appropriate to illustrate the strategy and plan of activities for the period 2022-
2025 to better background and put in context the activities proposed for 
responding to the call.” 
 

33. Regarding the requirement for the annual accounts. We have the audited 
accounts for the previous years, however we are in the process of finalizing the annual 
accounts and have an audit scheduled on 15 February, meaning that the auditor’s report 
will not be ready before the submission deadline of 17 February. As such, we have some 
proposed solutions for moving forward on this issue which may affect other 
organisations as well. 
- we can submit the unaudited financial report on a provisional basis, and, should the 
proposal be successful, we will provide the audited accounts 2021 in the contract 
negotiation phase.  
- OR, we can submit only audited accounts from previous years and submit the 2021 
accounts in the contract negotiation phase, should the proposal be successful  
- OR, since this is an annex to the submission, perhaps there can be a delay in the 
submission of certain annexes such as annual accounts and reports, for example 1 March 
along with the deadline for the reporting non last year’s SGAs by current recipients. This 
may provide a level playing field for all applicants. 
 
“In reply to your query on the annual account, the applicant is expected to go for the 
second option, namely:  
“OR we can submit only audited accounts from previous years and submit the 2021 
accounts in the contract negotiation phase, should the proposal be successful” 
 
34. I‘m working on the application for ‚Financial contribution to the functioning of 
health non-governmental bodies implementing one or more specific objectives of 
Regulation 2021/522. (EU4H-2022-OG-FPA/SGA)‘ and wanted to investigate on 
‚previously funded projects‘ in this regard, as indicated in the call document. 
Unfortunately, the link in the call document leads to a ‚page not found‘.  
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Could you kindly redirect me to a page where I can find this information, or could you 
provide me with some examples thereof?  
 
“We have corrected the link, please see: 
https://ec.europa.eu/health/funding/programme_en 
Please also be informed that you may find information on the operating grants under the 
previous EU Health Programmes on the following link: 
“Health Programme DataBase - European Commission (europa.eu)” 
 
 

https://ec.europa.eu/health/funding/programme_en

